IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

ROBERT SHANNON WALKER, II,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC04-2381

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DENISE O. SIMPSON, ESQ.
LAW OFFICE OF
DENISE O. SIMPSON, P.A.
1717 K STREET NW, SUITE 600
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036
(202) 746-9193
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0981486
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

ROBERT SHANNON WALKER, Appellant, was the Defendant in the trial proceedings; this brief will refer to Appellant as Mr. Walker or Appellant. Appellee, is the State of Florida; this brief will refer to Appellee as the State or Appellee.

The record on appeal consists of eighteen volumes. Volumes one through seventeen volumes contain pleadings and testimony transcripts. Volume eighteen contains the exhibits that were filed in this case. The entire record has been transmitted to this Court. Each volume will be referred to by its designation in the Index on Appeal. "IB" will designate Appellant's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number.

All bold-type emphasis is supplied, and all other emphasis is contained within original quotations unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 27, 2003, Mr. William Davis found a crying, barefooted, and miserable Appellant stranded at the Penzoil gas station in Live Oak, Florida. (XIII. 1247-1248) Mr. Davis felt sorry for Appellant, purchased shoes for him, and took him to the bus station to help him get on his way. (XIII. 1248) It was after Mr. Davis's kindness that things changed for Appellant, and law enforcement arrived at the bus station and arrested him. (XIII. 1250) For Appellant this began the case of State of Florida v. Robert Shannon Walker.

Pre-Trial

Appellant was indicted for the capital crime of first degree Premeditated Murder, first degree felony of Kidnaping, and the second degree felony of Aggravated Battery. (IV. 497-4978) These crimes were alleged to have taken place on January 27, 2003, and David Hamman was listed as the victim. (IV. 497-498) Conflict counsel, Kenneth Studstill, was appointed to represent Appellant. (IV. 504) Attorney Studstill filed several pre-trial motions on Appellant's behalf. (IV. 514-574, 582-599, 612-672, VI. 889-894) Of particular note were Appellant's Motions to Declare § 921.141, FLA. STAT. unconstitutional, Motion

for Statement of Particulars as to Aggravating Circumstances and Theory of Prosecution, Motion for Findings of Fact, and Appellant's Motion to Suppress Appellant's Statements and Admissions to law enforcement. (IV. IV. 544-550, 624-672, V. 679-684)

On March 29, 2004 the parties appeared before the Honorable Charles M. Holcomb in Titsuville, Florida. The trial court heard all of Appellant's pre-trial motions except for the Motion to Suppress. (I. 10-12) In addition to arguing the merits of each motion, Appellant argued that Florida's death penalty scheme was unconstitutional under the dictates of Ring, infra, and Apprendi, infra. (I. 12-36) Yet, the trial court denied Appellant's motions because it felt bound to the present state of the law. (I. 51-55, 77-81 V. 687)

Motion to Suppress

On May 28, 2004, the trial court started Appellant's Motion to Suppress hearing. (I. 120-190) Appellant argued that his statement to law enforcement while he was in Suwannee County's custody was not voluntarily made, there was no proper warrant to seize any evidence, and his statements were made in violation of his rights under the United States' and Florida's Constitutions,

as he had invoked his right to counsel. (V. 679-680) To rebut Appellant's argument, the State called Agent Louis Heyn of the Brevard County Sheriff's Office Homicide Unit. (I. 123) Agent Heyn testified that in January 2003 at around 8:30 a.m. he responded to the scene of a homicide investigation in Brevard County. (I. 125) At around 9:00 or 10:00 a.m. he received a call that there were witnesses and a possible suspect in Suwannee County, Florida that may be related to the Brevard homicide. (I. 127-128) Agent Heyn and Agent Herrera left Brevard, and arrived in Suwannee around 2:00 p.m. to 3:00 p.m. (I. 127-129) They initially met with Lieutenant Warren of Suwannee Sheriff's Office, then with two witnesses, and then they met with Appellant. (I. 127-131) When Agent Heyn and Agent Herrera introduced themselves to Appellant, they explained that they were there to talk to him, and Appellant stated that he may need a lawyer. (I. 131) Agent Heyn and Agent Herrera started to leave. (I. 131) Appellant stopped Agent Herrera and said "you guys didn't get all dressed up and prettied up to come up here for nothing, let me think." (I. 131) Appellant started to talk to them about the case, but they explained that they would have to Mirandize him, and did so. (I. 133)

Appellant signed a Miranda waiver, and stated that he was willing to speak with them. (I. 134) Agent Heyn did not see any indication that Appellant was under the influence. (I. 137)

On cross examination, Agent Heyn did not recall being told of Appellant's sniffing methamphetamine or acting weird while traveling with the two witnesses, Ms. Ritter and Ms. Gibson.

(I. 142) Agent Heyn acknowledged that during Appellant's interrogation he had his tape recorder out of view under the table, and Agent Herrera had his tape recorder out in the open on the table. (I. 144-146) However, Agent Heyn's hidden recorder did not work. (I. 144-146)

The State then called Agent Herrera who testified that during their meeting Appellant initially stated "I might want to talk to an attorney. (I. 156-157) Agent Herrera and Heyn started to leave, but Appellant made a comment along the lines of them not getting dressed up for nothing. (I. 156-157) They told Appellant they did not have to speak with them. (I. 157-158) However, Appellant was Mirandized, and signed a waiver. (I. 158-159) Agent Herrera admitted to trying and failing to covertly record Appellant's waiver. (I. 158-159) He testified,

as did Agent Heyn, that several times during the interview the tape was stopped based on Appellants request. (I. 135, 161) He also testified that to him Appellant did not appear to be on drugs. (I. 179)

Out of turn, Appellant called Leslie Ritter as his witness. Ms. Ritter testified that she first met Appellant when she, her friend Lori, and David Hamman went to Joel Gibson's apartment.

(I. 181) Ms. Ritter witnessed Appellant and his girlfriend beating David Hamman with a stick or a flashlight. (I. 182)

She saw Joel taking illegal drugs, but she was not sure if Appellant took any drugs that night. (I. 183) However, she did see Appellant "snorting" drugs the entire time they were driving together from Brevard to Jacksonville, and she knew with certainty that Appellant was high. (I. 184-185) Testimony was concluded that day, and the trial court reserved ruling. (V. 724-728)

The Motion to Suppress hearing continued on June 18, 2004, and the State called Florida Department of Transportation

Officer Bobby Boren. (II. 195) Officer Boren testified that he was running radar along Interstate 10 in Suwannee County when "a pick up truck with two ladies came driving into the median where

I was at a high rate of speed." (II. 196) The women were yelling about someone trying to kill them, and being taken by someone in South Florida. (II. 197-199) The women had been screaming that there were drugs and guns in the truck, and he saw an automatic weapon in the open glove compartment of the truck. (I. 201-202) Based on their description a local be on the look out ("BOLO") call was done. (II. 200) He later learned the person was apprehended at the bus station in Suwannee County. (II. 200)

The State rested its presentation, and Appellant called Dr. Howard Bernstein as his witness. (II. 206) Dr. Bernstein is a psychologist who has a speciality in forensic psychology in criminal work. (II. 206) He reviewed Appellant's medical records from Suwannee County, and from the Brevard County Jail, and he spoke with Appellant on two occasions. (II. 207) Appellant was diagnosed with bipolar disorder with psychotic features which Dr. Bernstein described as "a good deal more serious (than) something we would call quote, depression, unquote." (II. 208) Appellant reported to Dr. Bernstein that he had been on a seven day dope binge, and that he was only getting two to three hours of sleep a day. (II. 209)

Appellant's drug use included "methedrine, and that was smoked as well as oral, cocaine and quote 'eating pills, snorting coke.'" (II. 209) Appellant also reported that before he was arrested he had his last hit where he "ate me a pill, did me a line. It was pretty strong, we didn't cut it with nothing." 209) The arrest took place around 9:00 to 10:00 a.m., and Appellant gave his statement to law enforcement around 6:00 to 7:00 p.m. (II. 210) Dr. Bernstein testified that cocaine and amphetamines are "long lasting central nervous system stimulants and psychoactive stimulants." (II. 211) Thus, they "are longer lasting typically (than) the other kinds of drugs," and considering this "longer lasting effect plus the psychoactive influences it seems clear that he still was under the control because of the heavy load and the frequent dosing during the whole day." (II. 211) Dr. Bernstein believed that Appellant's statement was "less than voluntary knowing some what uncoerced." 213) To clarify, Dr. Bernstein testified that Appellant's use of drugs affect on his past mental disorder made Appellant's statement less than intelligent. (II. 215) He also testified that Appellant's lack of sleep, and drug use would magnify the intensity of Appellant's mental illness. (II.

Appellant then took the stand. (II. 219) He testified that prior to January 2003 he had never been diagnosed with any mental condition. (II. 223-224) Unaware of his bipolar condition with psychotic features condition, he had been "smoking meth, and eating pills of meth, and doing cocaine, and rolling marijuana up and smoking that." (II. 219) Appellant felt high and speedy, and being in a dream like state while on drugs. (II. 220) When he was arrested in Live Oak, officers tried to speak with him, but Appellant told them he wanted a lawyer, and they left him alone. (II. 222-225) When the agents from Brevard County came in to see him they told him they wanted to clear some things up. (II. 226) Appellant told them that he wanted to speak with an attorney first. (II. 226) The officers did not leave immediately, and told him that they "didn't drive up here for nothing, you really need to talk to us." (II. 226) Appellant felt intimidated by the larger police officer because of a past beating he suffered by other law enforcement officers in Virginia. (II. 226-227) Appellant gave his statement, but he felt that his life was in danger if he didn't "because of (his) past experiences and their demeanor." (II. 227) He asked the Suwannee police officer for

a lawyer before he saw the Brevard County agents. (II. 231) He also testified that he was still under the influence when he spoke with the Suwannee officer. (II. 235) Appellant somewhat recalled the tape recorded statement where he was crying. (II. 236) Yet, he only found out through his Attorney showing him the medical records later that the Suwannee police had him on a special medical watch where he was observed every fifteen minutes. (II. 236-237)

The Motion to Suppress was continued to July 6, 2004. The State called Live Oak former officer now Detective Chuck Tompkins. (II. 242-246) Officer Tompkins testified that on January 27, 2003 he followed a BOLO, and found someone matching the description at the bus station. (II. 242-246) He did a pat-down of the man, and recovered two loaded 45 caliber magazines. (II. 246) Officer Tompkins asked the man who he was, and received no response. (II. 246) The man was placed in the patrol car, and the man stated to just shoot him. (II. 246-247) Officer Tompkins did not Mirandize the man because he did not ask him any questions. (II. 247)

Next was Live Oak Police Lieutenant "Buddy" Williams. (II. 257) He was patrolling a BOLO call for a suspect related

possible murder in South Florida, and he heard that Detective
Tompkins was checking the bus station. (II. 257) When
Lieutenant Williams arrived at the bus station, Appellant was on
his knees, and officers Manning and Tompkins were also present.
(II. 258) Appellant was making statements of "just shoot me,"
and he was kicking the car. (II. 259) Eventually Appellant
calmed down, entered the police car, and Officer Tompkins took
him away. (II. 259) Lieutenant Williams testified that his
contact with Appellant took 45 seconds to one minute, no Miranda
warning was given, and Appellant did not ask for an attorney.
(II. 260) However, he observed that Appellant was engaged in
"not normal behavior." (II. 262)

On cross-examination, Lieutenant Williams testified that Appellant's behavior went from distraught to calm, and he believed that it was very possible that Appellant was under the influence. (III. 267) The preceding was supported by Lieutenant Vernon Creech of the Suwannee Sheriff's Office's when he testified that he saw Appellant exhibiting symptoms of someone who was on methadone. (III. 290) This concluded all testimony.

On July 30, 2004, the trial court entered its Order Denying

Appellant's Motion to Suppress Statements and Admissions. (VI. 885-888) The trial court found that Appellant's claim that he was unlawfully detained, and that he was denied his Fifth and Sixth Amendment right to an attorney before he made statements to the Suwannee and Live Oak law enforcement were without merit. (VI. 886) He also found that Appellant knowingly waived his right to counsel and to remain silent, and also found that despite the evidence of Appellant's drug use, the totality of the circumstances showed that Appellant's statement was knowing and voluntary. (VI. 887-888)

Guilt Phase

Appellant's jury trial commenced on July 19, 2004. The State presented the following case: On the morning of January 27, 2003, Steve Roeske from St. Johns Water Management found a body in the Tom Lawton Recreation Area, and he called the police. (XI. 853-862) Brevard County Sheriff's Deputy Robert Williams and Sergeant Bruce Barnett responded to Mr. Roeske's call about this dead body. (XI. 863-867, 874-887)

The next witness was Loriann Gibson who had been dating Mr. Hamman for two weeks prior to his death. (XI. 884) At that point she did not know Appellant. (XI. 885) She testified that

on January 26, 2003, she, Mr. Hamman, and Leslie Ritter went to an apartment on Valkaria Road. (XI. 886-890) When they arrived, a man who she later learned was Joel Gibson let them into the apartment. (XI. 892) Ms. Gibson could not identify Appellant in court. (XI. 893) However, she testified that Appellant and a woman came out of the back bedroom of the apartment, and started beating Mr. Hamman with various objects. (XI. 891-893) Additionally, Ms. Gibson was made to strip to her underwear to see if she was wearing a wire. (XI. Thirty minutes later, she was sent to the back bedroom where she stayed for approximately three hours. (XI. 898-899) During that time Ms. Gibson quessed that Mr. Hamman ran out of the apartment. (XI. 899) She heard "them say, 'Get the bags and stuff and put them in the trunk.'" (XI. 899) She then guessed that "they took him to wherever they shot him." (XI. 899) When Appellant and the woman returned, Appellant told her and Ms. Ritter to drive him out of Florida, and she saw Appellant put two loaded guns in the truck's glove compartment. (XI. 900-901) During the trip they stopped three times. (XI. 905) The last time Appellant left the key in the truck while they were in Live Oak, the women took this opportunity to drive away

without him, and they eventually found a police officer and explained their situation. (XI. 906-907)

On cross-examination, Ms. Gibson acknowledged that Mr. Hamman had threatened to kill her and Ms. Ritter because they had heard about the metamphetamine enterprise he was involved in. (XI. 927-930) She saw Joel Gibson doing drugs the night of the beating, she described Joel was the supervisor of the beatings, and she saw Joel dancing around doing meth. (XI. 935-942)

The next witness was Leslie Ritter. Ms. Ritter identified Appellant in court, but admitted that she never actually saw him kill anyone. (XI. 971-972, 984) She testified that Mr. Hamman was still conscious after the beating he received from Appellant and the woman. (XI. 975-979) She also confirmed that Joel Gibson was watching the beating, and he was taking drugs. (XI. 987)

Joel Gibson's neighbor, Dennis Goss, testified that during the early morning hours of January 27, 2003 he was awoken by his dog barking. (XII. 1059-1065) Mr. Goss heard noises like someone was being beaten near the railroad track to the east of the apartment. (XII. 1065-1066) Joel Gibson knocked on Mr.

Goss' back door, apologized for the noise, and told him someone had gotten "too big for their britches." (XII. 1065) Mr. Goss saw someone by the mailboxes go toward "the west end of the house, and then I saw Leigh Ford's car come out from around the side of the house and proceed up to the [area] where the noise came from." (XII. 1065) He believed Joel Gibson was down by the mailboxes. (XII. 1073-1074) He then saw Mr. Hamman's truck and Ms. Ford's car drive away in different directions.

On cross-examination, Mr. Goss testified that he knew that Joel carried a .45 caliber which he thought was a Llama, and Appellant carried a Colt 45. (XII. 1061-1062, 1079) He also admitted that the beating he heard was not severe enough for him to call the police. (XII. 1080)

Florida Department of Transportation Officer Bobbie Boren testified that on the morning of January 27, 2003 he was monitoring traffic when a large white truck drove off the roadway and turned around. (XII. 1083-1087) Two very exited women came running out of the truck "yelling and screaming that someone had kidnaped them and had killed somebody, and they were telling me there were guns in the truck and this kind of thing."

(XII. 1083-1088) Officer Boren saw a gun in the open glove compartment, and he contacted headquarters and requested assistance from the Suwannee County Sheriff's Office. (XII. 1088-1089) Suwannee County Sheriff's Office Lieutenant Creech arrived, spoke to the women, and put out a BOLO for the man the women were describing. (XII. 1089-1092) This man was last seen at the Penn-Oil Truck Stop. (XII. 1089-1092) Officer Boren identified photographs of the weapons, the shoes, a 7-Eleven bag, and some cloth that was in the front seat area white truck. (XII. 1092-1094)

Next, Live Oak Officer Chuck Tompkins testified to going to the Penn-Oil gas station to follow up on a BOLO for a "white male wearing a camoflauge jacket and a camoflauge cap." (XII. 1098) After speaking with the clerk at the station, Officer Tompkins went to the Greyhound bus station. (XII. 1098-1099) Within five minutes of arriving there, they saw a man fitting the BOLO. (XII. 1100) They secured him with handcuffs, patted him down, and recovered from the man "a folding knife, two fully loaded 45 magazines, and one live round, one spent casing, and a slapjack," and a wallet. (XII. 1101-1105) Officer Tompkins did not ask the man any questions, but the man made statements

of "Shoot me. Just let me run and shoot me." (XII. 1105)

Officer Tompkins could not identify Appellant in court. (XII.

1106-1107) Additionally, on cross-examination, he testified that he could not tell if the man was under the influence. (XII.

1108-1109)

Agent Laufenberg of the Brevard County Sheriff's Office was the State's next witness. Appellant objected to Agent Laufenberg testifying to the photographs of blood stains because they had not been tied up to the victim. (XII. 1124-1155) Despite arguments of the probative versus prejudice, the trial court asking the State why they would take the risk of admitting the evidence, and Appellant's motion for mistrial, verbal evidence about the blood was admitted. (XII. 1156-1170) Photographs of the blood stains in the apartment unit on Valkaria Road were latter admitted without any objection by Appellant as to the predicate. (XII. 1171-1177) Agent Laufenberg took swabs of the blood stains at Joel Gibson's apartment, and submitted one for testing. (XII. 1238-1239) While he did not object to the strap used to tie Mr. Hamman's hands being admitted into evidence, Appellant objected to the prejudicial nature of the photographs of the victim's

hands being tied, but this was overruled. (XII. 1195-1200, XIII. 1213-1218) Agent Laufenberg testified about the projectiles that were sent to the lab and items recovered from the search of the apartment on Valkaria Road. (XIII. 1219-1234) These included a magazine for a 45-caliber handgun, a tool that had no purpose, and a homemade club. (XIII. 1219-1234)

Mr. William Davis from Live Oak took the stand, and testified to meeting a man at the Penn-Oil gas station who needed a ride. (XIII 1245-1247) The man was crying pretty hard, he was barefooted, and he was in misery. (XIII. 1247) The man was trying to get home to a small town in Tennessee or Kentucky, so Mr. Davis took him to the bus station. (XII. 1247-1248) Mr. Davis was unable to identify Appellant in court. (XIII. 1251)

Next Agent Herrera testified to reading Appellant his Miranda rights. (XIII. 1270-1288) Appellant acknowledged that he understood his rights, and gave a taped statement. (XIII. 1270-1288)

Then the State called Joel Gibson's girlfriend, Lisa Protz. (XIII. 1296) She testified that around 3:00 a.m. on January 27, 2003, Appellant arrived at her home in a white truck. (XIII. 1298-1300) Appellant asked for a "(g)asoline can, gas, tape and

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