IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT SHANNON WALKER,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-2381

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(386)238-4990
Fax (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Issue I. The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress Walker's statement. Walker argues that his right to counsel was not honored and his Miranda waiver was not voluntarily. The Suwannee County and Live Oak law enforcement officers all testified Walker did not request a lawyer during the time he was with them. The two Brevard County agents who interviewed Walker testified that Walker said he "might need a lawyer," and all questioning ceased. They got up to leave, but Walker asked them to stay. He was advised of his Miranda rights, signed a waiver form, and gave a voluntary statement.

Walker claims he was under the influence of drugs (8 to 10 hours after he was arrested), and the *Miranda* waiver was not voluntary. The officers who first took Walker into custody observed signs of drug consumption; however, the Brevard agents did not see signs of intoxication or impairment at the time of the interview. The trial judge made a credibility determination and believed the officers over the convoluted theory of Dr. Bernstein which was based on Walker's self-report.

Issues II and VII. The claims based on $Ring\ v.\ Arizona$, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), have no merit. The claim regarding interrogatory verdicts on aggravating circumstances was decided

adversely to Appellant's position in *Steele v. State*, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S74 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2005), which Walker acknowledges.

Issue III. The trial judge did not err in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal. This is not a circumstantial case. Walker confessed to law enforcement and to Ms. Gibson. This is a direct evidence case and, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there is competent, substantial evidence of guilt.

Issue IV. The trial court findings on the three aggravating circumstances -- during a kidnapping, HAC, and CCP - are supported by competent, substantial evidence. The jury found Walker guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of kidnapping. As to HAC, Walker beat the victim for three hours, then when the naked victim tried to escape, Walker stuffed him in the trunk of a car, took him to a remote area, and shot him six times in the face. As to CCP, Walker was lying in wait and attacked the victim with deadly weapons as soon as he walked into the apartment. He and Ford beat the victim for three hours until he escaped. Walker then chased him down, put him in the trunk of Ford's car, took him to a remote area and shot him six times in the face.

The weight to be given mitigating circumstances is for the

trial judge to decide. The judge made detailed findings on each mitigating factor presented by Appellant. The aggravating circumstances simply outweigh the mitigating.

This case is proportional to other death sentences.

Issue V. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting photos of the apartment where the victim was beaten, the road where he was shot, and the autopsy photos. The crime scene photos and location of the body were relevant to a full understanding of the sequence of events. The medical examiner explained each carefully-selected autopsy photo in describing the multiple injuries and defensive wounds on the body. None of the photos were inappropriate to a murder case.

Issue VI. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for a statement of particulars as to aggravating circumstances. This Court held in Steele v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S74 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2005), that it is up to the judge's discretion whether to require the State to provide notice of aggravating circumstances.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND ADMISSIONS.

Walker argues the trial court erred in denying the motion to suppress his statements and admissions. Although he claims he asked for an attorney at the bus station and again during transport; the officers who testified at the suppression hearing said there was not only no invocation of the right to counsel, but also there was no interrogation. The first time there was any mention of a lawyer was when the Brevard County agents went to interview Walker and he said he "might need a lawyer." They then picked up their jackets and started to leave, but Walker stopped them. He then voluntarily waived Miranda rights and gave his statement. Both agents testified he did not appear to be under the influence of drugs when he gave his statement, approximately 8 hours after he was arrested. Walker claims he was under the influence of mind-altering drugs and sleep deprivation at the time of the interview, 8 to 10 hours after he was arrested. 10 Last, Walker argues the trial judge abused his

¹⁰ Although the trial judge stated in his order that approximately

discretion by finding he initiated further conversation and in believing the testimony of law enforcement officers and in misconstruing the testimony of Dr. Bernstein. Walker equates the state of mind required for a statement to that required for a plea.

After an extensive suppression hearing, the trial judge found:

Defendant was a suspect in a murder in Brevard County and for kidnapping and drug offenses in Suwannee County, Florida. Two young females reported a chain of events to law enforcement officers who interviewed the young females and took statements, including Agents Heyn and Herrera from Brevard County.

First, Defendant claims he was unlawfully detained. This argument is without merit.

Next, Defendant claims that he was denied his Fifth and Sixth Amendment right to an attorney before he made any statements. As to the Suwannee County officers, he made no statement as a result of interrogation by the police even though he was in custody. Statements he made were limited to his identification and "if I run, will you shoot me" or something similar. Defendant claims he made requests for an attorney to the Suwannee County and Live Oak

eight to ten hours had passed between Walker's arrest and the interview, the State submits the time between last possible consumption and interview -- eleven hours -- is the relevant time period. Ritter and Gibson left Walker at the Penn Oil station around 9:00 a.m. (Vol. XI, TT907, 984). The Miranda waiver was signed at 7:40 p.m. (Vol. XIII, TT1269). The interview began at 7:48 p.m. (Vol. XVI, TT 1934).

officers but there in no evidence of that other than Defendant's claim. He was not interrogated by those officers in any event and the right to have an attorney present was not an issue as he was not being questioned. This claim is without merit.

Third, Defendant claims he invoked his right to have a lawyer present before talking with Agents Heyn and Herrera from Brevard County. After introducing Agent Heyn and himself, Agent Herrera informed Defendant of why they wished to talk with him. Defendant responded "I think I might want to talk to an attorney." was an equivocal response and the Agents could have continued without violating Defendant's rights. State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1997) and Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 1994). Nonetheless, the Agents got up from the table, started to put on jackets preparing to leave. Walker then initiated contact with the Agents and stated words to the effect, "hey, you didn't get all dressed up and pretty and drive all the way over here for just two minutes, hold on, sit down and let me think." Agent Herrera explained his rights and told him that if he had an attorney, the attorney would most likely 99.999% tell him not to say a word. Defendant questioned the detectives for their advice on an attorney and they told him they could not give him He then was read his Miranda rights and executed a standard Miranda form indicating that he was aware of his rights and wished to proceed to talk This claim is without merit as he initiated to them. further conversation and waived his right to counsel and silence knowingly and intelligently under the totality of the circumstances - See Edwards Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 1010 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981), reh'q denied 452 U.S. 973, 101 S.Ct. 3128, 69 L.Ed.2d 948 (1981; Oregon v. Bradshaw, 462 U.S. 1039, 103 S.Ct. 2830, 77 L.Ed.2d 405 (1983), on remand 66 Or.App. 585, 674 P.2d 1190 (1984); Sapp v. State, 690 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1997); Lukehart v. State, 762 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 2000); Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1998).

Lastly, Defendant claims he was under the influence of illegal narcotic drugs to the extent that his

statements were involuntarily made. testimony by the two females who drove him from Brevard County to Suwannee County that he was doing drugs all the way during the drive. asserted that he had been on a 7-day drug binge and continued using drugs during the drive. When he was detained early in the morning, 9 am - 10 am, the Suwannee County Officers observed conduct consistent with being under the influence. However, it was 8 to 10 hours after he was detained before the Brevard County Agents questioned him. He showed no sign of drug influence at that time. It was only his own testimony that indicated he was under the influence at Dr. Howard Bernstein was called as a that time. witness on Defendant's behalf and rendered a rather strange opinion. His sole basis for his opinion was what Defendant had told him. Dr. Bernstein gave an unusual self-defeating opinion actually not stating that Defendant's statements were not voluntarily given. Defendant's emotional statements and conduct during the Mirandized interview are not uncommon for someone just detained on a first degree murder charge. Further, there was insufficient evidence as to the exact drugs used or the amount. Based upon the totality of the circumstances, the court finds that Defendant's statements were knowingly and voluntarily made.

(Vol. VI, R885-894). The trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress is accorded great deference. Walker v. State, 707 So. 2d 300, 311 (Fla. 1997), citing McNamara v. State, 357 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 1978). Appellate courts accord a presumption of correctness to the trial court's rulings on motions to suppress with regard to the trial court's determination of historical facts, but independently review mixed questions of law and fact that ultimately determine constitutional issues arising in the

context of the Fourth and Fifth Amendment and, by extension, Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 182 (Fla. 2003).

In Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452, 460-61 (1994), the United States Supreme Court in held that if a suspect initially waives his or her rights, the suspect thereafter must clearly invoke those rights during the ensuing interview. Following Davis, this Court held in State v. Owen, 696 So. 2d 715, 719 (Fla. 1997), that police need not ask clarifying questions if a defendant who has received proper Miranda warnings makes only an equivocal or ambiguous request to terminate an interrogation after having validly waived his or her Miranda rights.

In the present case, Walker's statement was equivocal that he "might want to talk to a lawyer." Nevertheless, Agents Hehn and Herrerra were going to leave until Walker stopped them and initiated a conversation. Walker voluntarily initiated further contact or communication with the agents Walker initiated further contact with the agents by telling them to wait because they hadn't come all that way to see him for two minutes. Walker then asked for time to make his decision. The agent told him that an attorney would "99.999%" surely tell Walker not to talk to the police. Walker then voluntarily signed a written waiver

of *Miranda* rights and proceeded with the interview. Given these facts, questioning was proper.

In Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d 169, 182 (Fla. 2003), the defendant stated, "I just don't . . . prefer now to wait until there's an attorney." The officers conducting the interview asked Anderson if he was requesting an attorney. Anderson's responses were still ambiguous and the police took a short break. Resuming the conversation, the officer conducting the interview told Anderson:

I guess we just want to make sure okay that you understand your rights and and [sic] if you want a lawyer right now - then we're leaving and we're out the door. If you want to talk to us now ya know without a lawyer and answer some new questions that we have and cooperate with us in that respect we want to make sure you have the right to do that as well.

Id. Thereafter, Anderson agreed to continue talking to the officers. This Court held Anderson's rights were not violated.

Insofar as the voluntariness of the *Miranda* waiver, the trial court found the agents' testimony credible and Dr. Bernstein not credible. The trial judge is in the best position to evaluate the credibility of witnesses and his findings are entitled to great deference. *See Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001) ("We recognize and honor the trial court's superior

vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact.")

In $Orme\ v.\ State$, 677 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1996), the defendant claimed he was too intoxicated with drugs to knowingly and voluntarily waive his rights. This Court stated:

While we acknowledge there is conflicting evidence in the record on this point, we nevertheless are limited in this appeal by the applicable standard of review. Our duty on appeal is to review the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory and to sustain that theory if it is supported by competent substantial evidence. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 641 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, No. 95-7969 (U.S. Apr. 22, 1996). Here, friends and family members supported the defense's theory that Orme was severely intoxicated at the times in question. However, the officers who actually took Orme's statements testified that he was coherent and responsive. Moreover, the statements were taped, and the trial court after reviewing these tapes concluded that the evidence supported the state's theory. Because there is evidence supporting competent substantial conclusion, we may not reverse it on appeal.

Id. at 262-263. See also Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d 514, 524 (Fla. 2003)(defendant did not appear intoxicated or mentally ill at the time he waived his Miranda rights); Jorgenson v. State, 714 So. 2d 423, 426 (Fla. 1998)(trial court did not err in finding defendant not intoxicated at the time he waived his Miranda rights). Walker's statement was made voluntarily, he was not under the influence of intoxicants to the extent he could not understand and voluntarily waive his rights.

Even if the trial court erred in admitting the confession, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Almeida v. State, 748 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1999) (applying harmless error test to the erroneous introduction of defendant's taped confession). There were two eye witnesses to the beating. Ritter and Gibson also heard the kidnapping, and Walker told Gibson he had gotten rid of Walker. The gun in the victim's truck which Walker used to intimidate Ritter and Gibson was the same gun that shot the victim. The victim's blood was on the gun. The flex ties binding the victim's hands were the same type as those in the truck.

ISSUES II and VII

THE FLORIDA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN VIOLATION OF RING V. ARIZONA.

Issues II and VII are combined since they both involve issues raised pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). Walker claims the trial court erred by denying his pre-trial motion for interrogatory verdicts on the aggravating circumstances and in not requiring that the jury find the aggravating circumstances. Walker acknowledges the adverse authority of Steele v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S74 (Fla. Oct. 12, 2005), which holds that a trial judge departs from the essential requirements of law by required interrogatory verdict forms. Walker also acknowledges King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002) and Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002).

The State adds to the above cases the fact that the murder was committed during the course of a felony, and that the jury found Walker guilty of kidnapping beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Gamble v. State, 877 So. 2d 706, 719 (Fla. 2004) (finding death sentence was not invalid where jury found defendant guilty of first-degree murder and the felony of armed robbery); Grim v. State, 841 So. 2d 455, 465 (Fla. 2003) (explaining that defendant was not entitled to relief under Ring

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